
Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, May 7, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: April 30, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update 

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$4,340,204.21 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025 Through April 25, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 4.25.25.PDF

(2) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Payroll Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount 
Of $5,624,911.53 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025.

2025 RESOLUTION FOR PAYROLL PAY PERIOD 09.PDF

(3) Award The Construction Contract For The 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay Project 
To Granite Construction Company Of Everett, WA In The Amount Of $1,327,733.50.

2025 PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE OVERLAY_AWARD.PDF

(4) Accept The Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding Project As Complete And Authorize The Mayor 
To Sign The Certificate Of Completion.

ALWAYS ACTIVE LLC-CITYWIDE BICYCLE WAYFINDING-FINAL 
ACCEPTANCE.PDF

(5) Accept The Evergreen Pump Station Modifications Project As Complete And Authorize 
The Mayor To Sign The Certificate Of Completion. 

MCCLURE AND SONS-EVERGREEN PUMP STA-FINAL ACCEPT.PDF

(6) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Contract With NW Innovation Resource Center To 
Provide Business Support Services From 2025-2027. 

NWIRC CONTRACT AMEND 2025-2027.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEMS:

(7) CB 2504-25 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvements 
Project Entitled “Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park ”, Fund 308, Program 083, To Accumulate 
Construction Costs For The Eclipse Mill Park Project In The Amount Of $4,400,000. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-25.PDF

(8) CB 2504-26 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “WPCF FEN Meter Replacement” Fund 336, Program 048. (3rd & Final 
Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-26.PDF

(9) CB 2504-27 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, To 
Accumulate All Costs For The Improvement And Repealing Ordinance No. 4072-25. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-27.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM: 

(10) CB 2504-28 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Relating To Utilization Of Apprentices 
On Public Works Construction Projects, Adding A New Section To Chapter 3.80 EMC. (3rd 
& Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-28.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

¡ Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. 

You must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the 

Council office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to 

address. 

¡ Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 

Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to 

the meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and 

appropriate staff.  

¡ Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the 

comments in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

¡ The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 

everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

¡ Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 

elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 

425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 

or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 

arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 

please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-

Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

https://www.everettwa.gov/Admin/AgendaCenter/Item/Edit/937?categoryID=10#


Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, May 7, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: April 30, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update 

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$4,340,204.21 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025 Through April 25, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 4.25.25.PDF

(2) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Payroll Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount 
Of $5,624,911.53 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025.

2025 RESOLUTION FOR PAYROLL PAY PERIOD 09.PDF

(3) Award The Construction Contract For The 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay Project 
To Granite Construction Company Of Everett, WA In The Amount Of $1,327,733.50.

2025 PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE OVERLAY_AWARD.PDF

(4) Accept The Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding Project As Complete And Authorize The Mayor 
To Sign The Certificate Of Completion.

ALWAYS ACTIVE LLC-CITYWIDE BICYCLE WAYFINDING-FINAL 
ACCEPTANCE.PDF

(5) Accept The Evergreen Pump Station Modifications Project As Complete And Authorize 
The Mayor To Sign The Certificate Of Completion. 

MCCLURE AND SONS-EVERGREEN PUMP STA-FINAL ACCEPT.PDF

(6) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Contract With NW Innovation Resource Center To 
Provide Business Support Services From 2025-2027. 

NWIRC CONTRACT AMEND 2025-2027.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEMS:

(7) CB 2504-25 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvements 
Project Entitled “Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park ”, Fund 308, Program 083, To Accumulate 
Construction Costs For The Eclipse Mill Park Project In The Amount Of $4,400,000. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-25.PDF

(8) CB 2504-26 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “WPCF FEN Meter Replacement” Fund 336, Program 048. (3rd & Final 
Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-26.PDF

(9) CB 2504-27 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, To 
Accumulate All Costs For The Improvement And Repealing Ordinance No. 4072-25. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-27.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM: 

(10) CB 2504-28 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Relating To Utilization Of Apprentices 
On Public Works Construction Projects, Adding A New Section To Chapter 3.80 EMC. (3rd 
& Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-28.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

¡ Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. 

You must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the 

Council office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to 

address. 

¡ Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 

Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to 

the meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and 

appropriate staff.  

¡ Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the 

comments in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

¡ The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 

everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

¡ Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 

elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 

425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 

or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 

arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 

please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-

Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:



Everett City Council Preliminary Agenda

 6:30 p.m., Wednesday, May 7, 2025

City Council Chambers
Roll Call

Pledge Of Allegiance

Land Acknowledgment

Approval Of Minutes: April 30, 2025

Mayor ’s Comments

Public Comment

Council Comments

Administration Update 

City Attorney 

CONSENT ITEMS:

(1) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount Of 
$4,340,204.21 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025 Through April 25, 2025.

RES_CLAIMS PAYABLE 4.25.25.PDF

(2) Adopt Resolution Authorizing Payroll Claims Against The City Of Everett In The Amount 
Of $5,624,911.53 For The Period Ending April 19, 2025.

2025 RESOLUTION FOR PAYROLL PAY PERIOD 09.PDF

(3) Award The Construction Contract For The 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay Project 
To Granite Construction Company Of Everett, WA In The Amount Of $1,327,733.50.

2025 PAVEMENT MAINTENANCE OVERLAY_AWARD.PDF

(4) Accept The Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding Project As Complete And Authorize The Mayor 
To Sign The Certificate Of Completion.

ALWAYS ACTIVE LLC-CITYWIDE BICYCLE WAYFINDING-FINAL 
ACCEPTANCE.PDF

(5) Accept The Evergreen Pump Station Modifications Project As Complete And Authorize 
The Mayor To Sign The Certificate Of Completion. 

MCCLURE AND SONS-EVERGREEN PUMP STA-FINAL ACCEPT.PDF

(6) Authorize The Mayor To Sign The Contract With NW Innovation Resource Center To 
Provide Business Support Services From 2025-2027. 

NWIRC CONTRACT AMEND 2025-2027.PDF

PROPOSED ACTION ITEMS:

(7) CB 2504-25 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvements 
Project Entitled “Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park ”, Fund 308, Program 083, To Accumulate 
Construction Costs For The Eclipse Mill Park Project In The Amount Of $4,400,000. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-25.PDF

(8) CB 2504-26 – 2nd Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “WPCF FEN Meter Replacement” Fund 336, Program 048. (3rd & Final 
Reading 5/14/25)

CB 2504-26.PDF

(9) CB 2504-27 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Creating A Special Improvement 
Project Entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, To 
Accumulate All Costs For The Improvement And Repealing Ordinance No. 4072-25. (3rd & 
Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-27.PDF

BRIEFING & PROPOSED ACTION ITEM: 

(10) CB 2504-28 – 1st Reading - Adopt An Ordinance Relating To Utilization Of Apprentices 
On Public Works Construction Projects, Adding A New Section To Chapter 3.80 EMC. (3rd 
& Final Reading 5/21/25)

CB 2504-28.PDF

Executive Session

Adjourn

PARTICIPATION IN REMOTE COUNCIL MEETINGS

¡ Participate remotely via Zoom by registering to speak at everettwa.gov/speakerform. 

You must register no later than 30 minutes prior to the meeting. You may contact the 

Council office at 425.257.8703 or aely@everettwa.gov and identify the topic you wish to 

address. 

¡ Provide written public comments by email to Council@everettwa.gov or mail to 2930 

Wetmore Avenue, Suite 9A, Everett, WA 98201. Emailing comments 24 hours prior to 

the meeting will ensure your comment is distributed to councilmembers and 

appropriate staff.  

¡ Persons seeking to comment on non-agenda items may be asked to submit the 

comments in writing if the comment does not address an issue of broad public interest.

AGENDAS, BROADCAST AND RECORDINGS

¡ The Council agendas and meeting recordings can be found, in their entirety, at 

everettwa.gov/citycouncil. 

¡ Watch live meetings and recordings at YouTube.com/EverettCity.

CONTACT THE COUNCIL

If you do not wish to participate in the meeting, we provide these other methods of contacting your 

elected officials: Email the Council at Council@everettwa.gov or call the Council offices at 

425.257.8703.

The City of Everett does not discriminate on the basis of disability in the admission or access to, 

or treatment in, its programs or activities. Requests for assistance or accommodations can be 

arranged by contacting the Everett City Council Office at 425.257.8703. For additional information, 

please visit our website at https://www.everettwa.gov/3129/American-Disabilities-Act-ADA-and-

Title-.

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

Documents:

http://everettwa.gov/speakerform
mailto:aely@everettwa.gov
http://everettwa.gov/citycouncil
http://youtube.com/everettcity
mailto:Council@everettwa.gov
https://www.everettwa.gov/4bf30569-5e40-4cc8-881a-b3e4a42052b3


Be it Resolved by the City Council of the City of Everett:

Fund Department Amount Fund Department  Amount 

101 Parks & Recreation 13,201.53
002 General Funds 20,578.31 112 Municipal Arts 15,772.39
003 Legal 2,625.00 120 Public Works - Streets 2,407.38                  
009 Misc Financial Funds 39,997.49 130 Develop & Const Permit Fees 116.80                     
018 Communications, Mktg & Engage. 4,500.00 138 Hotel/Motel Tax Fund 11,353.63                
021 Planning & Community Dev 2,694.45 145 Cum Res/ Real Prop Acq. 8,242.50                  
024 Public Works-Engineering 59,787.58 146 Property Management 17,125.03
030 Emergency Management 7,584.64 153 Emergency Med Svc 101,781.91
031 Police 9,036.37 155 Capital Reserve Fund 14,582.48
032 Fire 108,971.02 156 Criminal Justice 12,476.38

157 Traffic Mitigation 19,135.90
TOTAL GENERAL FUND 255,774.86$    197 CHIP Loan Program 10,223.00

198 Comm Dev Block Grants 1,310.24
303 Public Works Impr. Projects 74,921.39
336 Water & Sewer Sys Improv Project 80,193.92
342 City Facilities Const. 2,904,037.24
354 Parks Capital Const. 10,852.63
401 Public Works-Utilities 272,296.30
402 Solid Waste Utility 8,162.07
425 Public Works-Transit 97,809.07
430 Everpark Garage 2,071.93
440 Golf 26,072.12
501 MVD - Trans Services 135,729.70
503 Self-Insurance 22,821.00
505 Computer Reserve 3,327.51
507 Telecommunications 1,501.35
508 Health Benefits Reserve 8,268.75
637 Police Pension 42,380.06

638 Fire Pension 70,215.65

661 Claims 66,459.41

Councilperson introducing Resolution 665 Other Special Agency Funds 29,580.08

Passed and approved this ________day of ___________, 2025 TOTAL CLAIMS 4,340,204.21

Council President

Whereas the claims payable by check against the City of Everett for the period April 19, 2025 through April 25, 2025, 

having been audited and approved by the proper officers, have been paid and the disbursements made by the same, 

against the proper funds in payment thereof, as follows:

RESOLUTION NO. __________



                                   R E S O L U T I O N   N O.  ________________

Be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Everett:

That the payroll of the employees of the City of Everett as of April 19th, and checks issued 

April 25, 2025, having been audited, be and the same is hereby approved and the proper officers

are hereby authorized and directed to charge checks on the Payroll Fund in payment thereof:

       Gross Employer

Fund      Department         Payroll Contributions

001 Legislative 13,681.28 7,546.65

003 Legal 99,014.89 27,181.58

004 Administration 54,799.84 12,266.75

005 Municipal Court 85,073.47 28,077.31

007 Personnel 54,661.93 17,359.63

010 Finance 118,726.53 37,080.50

015 Information Technology 123,179.33 38,650.82

018 Communications and Marketing 18,588.25 5,307.14

021 Planning & Community Dev 128,287.52 40,034.30

024 Public Works 238,711.48 77,396.89

026 Animal Shelter 58,554.89 22,025.33

030 Emergency Management 8,322.24 2,677.49

031 Police 1,269,213.19 312,453.34

032 Fire 821,384.23 195,276.76

038 Facilities/Maintenance 102,976.50 39,314.04

101 Parks & Recreation 145,050.59 55,276.93

110 Library 112,376.31 38,397.97

112 Community Theatre 8,974.24 6,497.91

120 Street 79,225.42 27,573.27

153 Emergency Medical Services 451,172.86 100,175.38

197 CHIP 7,988.03 2,032.04

198 Community Dev Block 4,049.68 1,268.69

401 Utilities 946,692.74 344,952.28

425 Transit 544,176.65 200,761.37

440 Golf 43,157.35 13,508.75

501 Equip Rental 86,872.09 31,633.01

$5,624,911.53 $1,684,726.13

__________________________________________

Councilperson Introducing Resolution

                                 Passed and approved this _______ day of ______________ , 2025.

 __________________________________________

Council President

https://www.everettconnect.org/DocumentCenter/View/19667/Everett-WA-navy-JPG


 

                                                                                                                                                                                

  

  

    

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Award the construction contract for the 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay project to 
Granite Construction Company of Everett, WA in the amount of $1,327,733.50. 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay 

Partner/Supplier: Granite Construction Company 

                    Location: Various locations within city, see attached vicinity maps 

     Preceding action:  Authorize Call for Bids, 3/5/25 

Fund: 119 – Street Improvements 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent                 05/07/2025 
Action 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes      X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Bid Summary, Project Map 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Tom Hood 
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8809 
 

Email: 
thood@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Bid proposals for the 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay project were opened on 
April 15, 2025, with two bid proposals received. Granite Construction Company of 
Everett, WA was the lowest responsible bidder in the amount of $1,327,733.50. 

The project will be funded as follows: 

              Fund 119 – Street Improvements                      $1,327,733.50 

 

Project summary statement: 

The 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay Project will overlay various locations, 
including 34th Avenue, Ross Avenue, E. Casino Road, and portions of Evergreen Way. The 
roadways require resurfacing to prevent further deterioration and ensure the continued 
safety and functionality of the roadways.   

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Award the construction contract for the 2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay project to 
Granite Construction Company of Everett, WA in the amount of $1,327,733.50. 

 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/17962?fileID=100381


 

 

Category 2: Sensitive information 

Category 2: For official use only / disclosure permissible by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Category 2: Sensitive information 

Category 2: For official use only / disclosure permissible by law. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Category 2: Sensitive information 

Category 2: For official use only / disclosure permissible by law. 

 



                                                                                                                                                                                
 

   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding; Final Acceptance 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Consideration: Final Acceptance & Certificate of Completion 

Project: Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding 
 

Partner/Supplier: Always Active Services LLC 

                    Location: Citywide 

Preceding action:  Award: 12/6/2023 

Fund:  303 – Public Works Improvement Projects 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent                05/07/2025 
Action   
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes  X No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Final Contract Voucher, 
Affidavit of Amounts Paid 
DBE Participation, 
Subcontractor Tracking Log, 
Final Estimate, Certificate of 
Completion  
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Tom Hood 
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8809 
 

Email: 
Thood@everettwa.gov 
 
 
 Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  

The programmed available funding for this project includes a State Pedestrian & Bicycle 
Safety Program (PB) grant of $373,090 and local matching funds of $100,000 from Fund 
119 – Street Improvements for a total of $473,090. 

Always Active Services of Seattle, WA was awarded the contract in the amount of 
$363,113.  

 

FINAL PAYMENT 

Fund 303 – Public Works Improvements Projects $ 340,318.05  

      Total Payment  $ 340,318.05  

 
Project summary statement: 

This project installed wayfinding signs and pavement markings for bicyclists at 
multiple locations to facilitate the safe travel of bicyclists and pedestrians. 

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Accept the Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding Project as complete and authorize the Mayor to 
sign the Certificate of Completion.  

 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/16272?fileID=91096
mailto:Thood@everettwa.gov


 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 
 

Project:  

Contractor:  

Work Order 
Number:  

 
The above-mentioned Project was constructed per the plans and specifications 
and to the satisfaction of the Public Works Department.   
 
The Contractor physically completed the Project within the time allowed in the 
Contract.   
 
It is recommended that the City accept this Project as complete. 
 
This certificate waives no rights that the City may have under the Contract, 
including without limitation rights to enforce the Contract against the Contractor 
for defective work. 
 
Recommended: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Ryan Sass, Director of Public Works 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Date: ____________________ 

Approved: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Date: ____________________ 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
Office of the City Clerk 

STANDARD DOCUMENT 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 

OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 
FEBRUARY 8, 2023 

 
 

Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding
Always Active LLC
PW 3786



Public Works

3200 Cedar Street
Everett, WA 98201

425-257-8800
425-257-8882 Fax

everettpw@everettwa.gov
everettwa.gov/pw

March 4, 2025 

Ms. Amanda Franks and Mr. Sam Franks 
Always Active Services, LLC
2014 171st Avenue SE 
Snohomish, WA 98290 
  
RE: Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding Project  
 Work Order # PW-3786 
 Final Estimate and Final Contract Voucher:  March 4, 2025 

Dear Ms. Amanda Franks and Mr. Sam Franks, 

A copy of the Final Estimate and one (1) original of the Final Contract Voucher 
Certification are enclosed for your review.  If you agree with the final quantities 
paid your firm under this Contract, sign and return the original of the Final 
Contract Voucher Certification.  A fully executed copy will be returned for your 
files.

As explained in the Physical Completion letter, due to changes in the law, 
Construction Management will not submit this project to City Council for 
acceptance until all “Affidavits of Wages Paid” forms have been filed by the 
prime contractor and all subcontractors, suppliers, and service providers on this 
project.

As soon as you have agreed to the final quantities, and all required 
documentation has been received by this office, including the documents listed 
below, a Certificate of Completion will be issued, and the project will be 
submitted to the City Council for approval. 

A letter from your firm stating that all bills and wages for this   
            project have been satisfied. 

City of Everett Affidavit of Wages Paid DBE Participants, even if 
            $0.00 

The retention bond will be released sixty (60) days after completion, provided 
there are no liens on the project, and releases have been received from the 
Department of Revenue, Department of Labor & Industries, and Employment 
Security.

If you have any questions, please contact me at 425-257-7225 or by email at 
Kalewine@everettwa.gov. 

Sincerely,

Keith Alewine
Construction Manager

Sincerely,







PROJECT

JOB NUMBER

FEDERAL AID NUMBER NA

STATE FUND NUMBER:

CONTRACT BID AMOUNT (excludes WSST)

Prime Contractor:  Always Active 604594690 NA Yes No Yes NA NA 64925 8/5/2022 1420008 4/24/2024 1368538 12/23/2024

Req 
# Subcontractor UBI # Amount This %

Prior 
%

% To 
Date

Return 
Date

FED 
CERT DBE MBE WBE

DBE ONSITE 
INTERVIEW

WAGE 
RATE 

INTERVIEW COEBL
DATE 

RECEIVED
L&I 

Intent Date
L&I 

Affidavit Date

1 Specialized Pavement Markings (SPM) 602001003 $142,882.00 39.349 0.00 39.349 3/27/2024 NA NA NA NA NA NA 55302 3/2/2016 1428524 5/15/2024 1375638 1/7/2025

2 Method Traffic Control 604744529 $20,075.00 5.529 39.349 44.88 5/23/2024 NA NA NA NA NA NA 64146 1/25/2022 1428513 5/23/2024 1369302 3/11/2025

 

Vendors, Suppliers, Services

1

TOTAL $162,957.00      

CHECKED DATE 3/27/2025

$363,113.00

SUBCONTRACTOR TRACKING LOG

WO  PW-3786

Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding

HLP-PB21(014)

S:\1Common\ENGINEERING PROJECTS\3786 CITYWIDE BICYCLE WAYFINDING\700 CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT\00-PW3786-Central Records\0.9-Closeout Docs\Subcontractor Tracking Log_Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding









                                                                                                                                                                                

   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Project title:  Request for Final Acceptance & Certificate of Completion for Evergreen Pump Station 
Modifications 

Council Bill #  
 

Consideration: Final Acceptance 

Project: Evergreen Pump Station Modifications, UP3747 

Partner/Supplier: McClure and Sons, Inc. 

                    Location: Evergreen Pump Station at Reservoir 3 

Preceding action:  Contract Award – 3/30/2022 

Fund: 336 – Water & Sewer System Improvements Fund 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing    
Proposed action 
Consent                05/07/2025 
Action        
Ordinance   
Public hearing 
 Yes     X No  
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Tom Hood 
 

Phone number: 
(425) 257-8809 
 

Email: 
thood@everettwa.gov 
 

Initialed by: 
  RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Original Contract Amount:      $  4,863,152.90 

Final Contract Voucher Amount   $  4,974,468.18  

 

 

Project summary statement:  

The Evergreen Pump Station is a critical component of the City’s water transmission and 
distribution system. This project includes the construction of a new electrical building 
adjacent to the existing pump station, replacement of outdated electrical equipment, 
seismic upgrades to the existing pump station building, and associated site work. 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Accept the Evergreen Pump Station Modifications Project as complete and authorize the 
Mayor to sign the Certificate of Completion.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/13538?fileID=80095
























                                                                                                                                                                            

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Project title: NW Innovation Resource Center (NWIRC) Contract Amendment 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
 

Project: NWIRC Contract 2025-2027 

Partner/Supplier: Northwest Innovation Resource Center (NWIRC)  

                    Location: Citywide Services  

Preceding action:  NWIRC has provided contracted business service for the city since 2017.   

Fund: 021/CPED 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing 
Proposed action 
Consent               05/07/2025 
Action 
Ordinance 
Public hearing 
 Yes  X  No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
NWIRC 2025-2027 Contract 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Economic Development 
 

Contact person: 
Dan Eernissee 
 

Phone number: 
425-257-8681 
 

Email: 
deernissee@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
DE  
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Since 2017 Northwest Innovation Resource Center (NWIRC) has provided small business and 
entrepreneurial support services for the City of Everett through professional service agreements. 
This contract continues the service agreement with NWIRC through 2027.   

The contract will be paid through Fund 21, Economic Development. The contract amendment is 
for $72,000 total, $24,000 per year for each of the three years. The annual payment is an 
increase of $750 per month over the contract that expired in 2024.  

NWIRC rents space from the City of Everett at the Angel of the Winds Arena for $30,000 per year 
for space to house its offices and the IRC Lab-Everett meeting space.  

 

Project summary statement: 

NWIRC assists entrepreneurs to create, build and grow innovative businesses that strengthen the 
economic diversity of NW Washington. The full scope is attached to the proposed contract, and 
summarized as NWIRC will provide:  

• Support entrepreneurs and inventors by providing direct technical assistance to 
entrepreneurs located in Everett;  

• Assist startup businesses in Everett to help them understand and access private capital;  
• Create cohort and accelerator programs;  
• Create informational presentations for entrepreneurs, small businesses, community and 

government groups; and  
• Work in partnership with educational, work force, technology, industry, and government 

partners to make the Everett economy sustainable and resilient.   

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Authorize the Mayor to sign the contract with NW Innovation Resource Center to provide 
business support services from 2025-2027.  

 



1 

 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

This Professional Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is effective as of the date of last 
signature below and is between the City of Everett, a Washington municipal corporation (the 
“City”), and the Service Provider identified in the Basic Provisions below (“Service Provider”). This 
Agreement is for the purpose of the Service Provider providing services as set forth in this 
Agreement.  This Agreement includes the Basic Provisions, the attached General Provisions, and 
the scope of work attachment, if any, referenced in the Basic Provisions.   

BASIC PROVISIONS 

Service Provider  

Northwest Innovation Resource Center 

2200 Rimland Drive, Ste 210 

Bellingham WA 98226 

dkamionka@nwirc.com 

City Project 
Manager  

Dan Eernissee 

City of Everett – Economic Development  

2930 Wetmore Ave  

Everett, WA 98201 

deernissee@everettwa.gov 

Scope of Work 
(must select one) 

☒ Scope of Work is attached.  One sentence summary of scope of work is as 
follows  The Service Provider will support entrepreneurs and innovation 
in Everett. 
 
☐ Scope of Work is not attached.  Instead, the Scope of Work is as follows: 
Enter scope of work here.  If space here is insufficient, attach scope of work 
instead. 

  



2 

BASIC PROVISIONS 

Completion Date December 31, 2027 

Eligible Expenses 
(not-to-exceed) 0 

Maximum 
Compensation 
Amount  

72,000 
Note: the Maximum Compensation 
Amount is inclusive of Eligible 
Expenses. 

Method of 
Payment 
(must select one) 

☐ Lump Sum paid upon completion of all work. 
 
☐ Payment method is described in scope of work.  
 
☒ Payment method is as follows:  Paid quarterly at $6,000 per quarter 
following the submission of an invoice that includes a summary of 
accomplishments.  

 

State Retirement 
Systems (must 
answer both 
questions) 

Does Service Provider have 25 or more employees? 
 

Answer: Click for Dropdown Menu 
 
If Service Provider has less than 25 employees, did any Service Provider 
Personnel who will work under this Professional Services Agreement retire 
under a DRS retirement system?  
 

Answer: Click for Dropdown Menu 
 

“DRS retirement system” refers to any of the following Public Employers’ 
Retirement System (PERS), School Employees’ Retirement System (SERS), 
Teachers’ Retirement System (TRS), and Law Enforcement Officers and 
Fire Fighters plan (LEOFF). 
 
“Service Provider Personnel” includes Service Provider employees and 
owners (such as shareholders, partners or members). If Service Provider is 
a sole proprietor, then “Service Provider Personnel” refers to the sole 
proprietor. 



3 

Willful Wage 
Violation 
Certification 

If the Maximum Compensation Amount under this Agreement is $10,000 or 
greater, then, by signing this Agreement, the Service Provider certifies that, 
within the five-year period immediately preceding the date of Service 
Provider’s signature, the Service Provider has not been determined by a final 
and binding citation and notice of assessment issued by the Washington 
Department of Labor and Industries or through a civil judgment entered by a 
court of limited or general jurisdiction to have willfully violated, as defined in 
RCW 49.48.082, any provision of chapter 49.46, 49.48, or 49.52 RCW.  This 
certification covers any entity, however organized, that is substantially 
identical to Service Provider.  Submission of an untrue certification by Service 
Provider is a material breach and cause for Agreement termination.  

 
END OF BASIC PROVISIONS 

  



4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Service Provider have executed this Agreement, 
which includes the above Basic Provisions, the attached General Provisions, and the scope of 
work attachment, if any, referenced in the Basic Provisions. 

CITY OF EVERETT 
WASHINGTON 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Date 

NORTHWEST INNOVATION RESOURCE CENTER 
 
 
 
 
Signature: ____________________________ 
 
Name of Signer: Diane Kamionka 
Signer’s Email Address: dkamionka@nwirc.com 
Title of Signer: Executive Director 
 

 
ATTEST 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
Office of the City Clerk 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 STANDARD DOCUMENT 
APPROVED AS TO FORM 
OFFICE OF THE CITY ATTORNEY 
DECEMBER 2, 2024 



General Provisions - 1 

ATTACHMENT  
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

(GENERAL PROVISIONS v.070324) 

1. Engagement of Service Provider.  The City hereby agrees to engage Service Provider, and Service 
Provider hereby agrees, to perform the work in a competent and professional manner and provide 
the services described in the Scope of Work.  The Scope of Work so identified is hereafter referred 
to as “Work”.  Without a written directive of an authorized representative of the City, Service 
Provider shall not perform any services that are in addition to, or beyond the scope of, the Work. 
If Service Provider’s proposal or other document generated by Service Provider is incorporated or 
attached as an exhibit or part of any exhibit to this Agreement, then such proposal or document 
is part of this Agreement solely to the extent that it describes the Work, the Work schedule, and 
the amounts or rates to be paid for such Work, and Service Provider expressly agrees that no 
terms or conditions from such proposal or document are incorporated or included into this 
Agreement.  In the event of difference or conflict between parts of this Agreement, Service 
Provider shall be bound by whichever is more stringent on Service Provider.   

2. Intellectual Property Rights.  Unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing, all intellectual 
property rights in works created pursuant to this Agreement, or for the City of Everett, belong to 
the City of Everett. To the extent the Work includes material subject to copyright, Service Provider 
agrees that the Work is done as a “Work For Hire” as that term is defined under U.S. copyright 
law, and that as a result, the City shall own all copyrights in the Work.  To the extent that the Work 
includes material subject to proprietary right protection but does not qualify as a “Work For Hire” 
under applicable law, Service Provider hereby assigns to the City all right, title and interest in and 
to the Work, including all copyrights, patents, trade secrets, and other proprietary rights therein 
(including renewals thereof).  To the maximum extent permitted by law, Service Provider waives 
all moral rights in the Work.  Notwithstanding the foregoing,  Service Provider retains any 
intellectual property rights in works created by Service Provider prior to engagement, or not for 
its performance of this Agreement. Service Provider expressly represents and warrants that the 
Work shall be original and shall not infringe on another’s copyright, or rights in trade or service 
marks.  Service Provider agrees to defend and indemnify City from any and all claims and damages 
arising out of this Agreement or the Work created hereunder.   

3. Time of Beginning and Completion of Performance.  This Agreement shall commence as of the 
date of mutual execution of this Agreement and the Work shall be completed by Completion Date 
stated in the Basic Provisions. 

4. Compensation. 
A. The City shall pay Service Provider only for completed Work and for services actually 

rendered which are described herein.  Such payment shall be full compensation for Work 
performed or services rendered, including, but not limited to, all labor, materials, supplies, 
equipment and incidentals necessary to complete the Work. 

B. Service Provider shall be paid such amounts and in such manner as described in Basic 
Provisions. 

C. Service Provider may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually 
incurred.  “Eligible Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses approved for 
reimbursement by the City.  If approval for reimbursement is not obtained from the City prior 
to Service Provider’s incurring the expense, Service Provider acknowledges that the City 
retains the option not to reimburse Service Provider.  Eligible expenses shall not exceed the 
amount stated in the Basic Provisions. 

D. Total compensation, including all services and expenses, shall not exceed the Maximum 



General Provisions - 2 

Compensation Amount in the Basic Provisions. 
E. If Service Provider fails or refuses to correct its work when so directed by the City, the City 

may withhold from any payment otherwise due an amount that the City in good faith 
believes is equal to the cost to the City of correcting, re-procuring, or remedying any damage 
caused by Service Provider’s conduct. 

5. Method of Payment.  Method of payment is as described in the Basic Provisions.  All requests for 
payment must be sent to the City Project Manager Address in the Basic Provisions or such other 
address as the City Project Manager may designate in writing. 

6. Submission of Reports and Other Documents.  Service Provider shall submit all reports and other 
documents as and when specified in the Scope of Work.  This information shall be subject to 
review by the City, and if found to be unacceptable, Service Provider shall correct and deliver to 
the City any deficient Work at Service Provider’s expense with all practical dispatch.  Service 
Provider shall abide by the City’s determinations concerning acceptability of Work. 

7. Termination of Contract.  City reserves the right to terminate this Agreement at any time by 
sending written notice of termination to Service Provider (“Notice”).  The Notice shall specify a 
termination date (“Termination Date”).  The Notice shall be effective (“Notice Date”) upon the 
earlier of either actual receipt by Service Provider (whether by email, mail, delivery or other 
method reasonably calculated to be received by Service Provider in a reasonably prompt manner) 
or three calendar days after issuance of the Notice. Upon the Notice Date, Service Provider shall 
immediately commence to end the Work in a reasonable and orderly manner. Unless terminated 
for Service Provider’s material breach, Service Provider shall be paid or reimbursed for: (a) all 
hours worked and Eligible Expenses incurred up to the Notice Date, less all payments previously 
made; and (b) those hours worked and Eligible Expenses incurred after the Notice Date, but prior 
to the Termination Date, that were reasonably necessary to terminate the Work in an orderly 
manner.  The City does not by this Section waive, release or forego any legal remedy for any 
violation, breach or non-performance of any of the provision of this Agreement.  At its sole option, 
and without limitation of or prejudice to any other available remedy or recourse, the City may 
deduct from the final payment due Service Provider (a) any damages, expenses or costs arising 
out of any such violations, breaches, or non-performance and (b) any other backcharges or 
credits.   

8. Changes.  The City may, from time to time, unilaterally change the scope of the services of Service 
Provider to be performed hereunder.  Such changes, including any increase or decrease in the 
scope of work (and resulting increase or decrease in compensation), shall: (a) be made only in 
writing and signed by an authorized City representative, (b) be explicitly identified as an 
amendment to this Agreement and (c) become a part of this Agreement. 

9. Subletting/Assignment of Contracts.  Service Provider shall not sublet or assign any of the Work 
without the express, prior written consent of the City. 

10. Indemnification.  Except as otherwise provided in this Section, Service Provider hereby agrees to 
defend and indemnify and save harmless the City from any and all Claims arising out of, in 
connection with, or incident to any negligent or intentional acts, errors, omissions, or conduct by 
Service Provider (or its employees, agents, representatives or subcontractors/subconsultants) 
relating to this Agreement, whether such Claims sound in contract, tort, or any other legal theory.  
Service Provider is obligated to defend and indemnify and save harmless the City pursuant to this 
Section whether a Claim is asserted directly against the City, or whether it is asserted indirectly 
against the City, e.g., a Claim is asserted against someone else who then seeks contribution or 
indemnity from the City.  Service Provider’s duty to defend and indemnify and save harmless 
pursuant to this Section is not in any way limited to, or by the extent of, insurance obtained by, 
obtainable by, or required of Service Provider. Service Provider’s obligations under this Section 



General Provisions - 3 

shall not apply to Claims caused by the sole negligence of the City.  If (1) RCW 4.24.115 applies to 
a particular Claim, and (2) such Claim is caused by or results from the concurrent negligence of 
(a) Service Provider, its employees, subcontractors/subconsultants or agents and (b) the City, 
then Service Provider’s obligations under this Section shall be only to the extent of Service 
Provider’s negligence.    Solely and expressly for the purpose of its duties to indemnify and defend 
and save harmless the City, Service Provider specifically waives any immunity it may have under 
the State Industrial Insurance Law, Title 51 RCW.  Service Provider recognizes that this waiver of 
immunity under Title 51 RCW was specifically entered into pursuant to the provisions of RCW 
4.24.115 and was the subject of mutual negotiation.  As used in this Section: (1) “City” includes 
the City, the City’s officers, employees, agents, and representatives and (2) “Claims” include, but 
is not limited to, any and all losses, penalties, fines, claims, demands, expenses (including, but not 
limited to, attorney’s fees and litigation expenses), suits, judgments, or damages, irrespective of 
the type of relief sought or demanded, such as money or injunctive relief, and irrespective of 
whether the damage alleged is bodily injury, damage to property, economic loss, general 
damages, special damages, or punitive damages or infringement or misappropriation of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, or other proprietary right.  If, and to the extent, Service Provider 
employs or engages subconsultants or subcontractors, then Service Provider shall ensure that 
each such subconsultant and subcontractor (and subsequent tiers of subconsultants and 
subcontractors) shall expressly agree to defend and indemnify and save harmless the City to the 
extent and on the same terms and conditions as Service Provider pursuant to this Section.  The 
provisions of this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

11. Insurance. Service Provider shall procure and keep in force during the term of this Agreement, at 
Service Provider’s own cost and expense, automobile liability insurance on all vehicles used by 
Service Provider in the performance of its duties under this Agreement.  Proof of such insurance 
shall be provided to the City prior to performing any services hereunder.  A statement certifying 
that no vehicle will be used in fulfilling this Agreement may be substituted for this insurance 
requirement. 

12. Risk of Loss.  Service Provider shall be solely responsible for the safety of its employees, agents 
and subcontractors in the performance of the work hereunder and shall take all protections 
reasonably necessary for that purpose. All work shall be done at Service Provider’s own risk, and 
Service Provider shall be solely responsible for any loss of or damage to Service Provider’s 
materials, tools, or other articles used or held for use in connection with the work. 

13. Independent Contractor. 
A. This Agreement neither constitutes nor creates an employer-employee relationship.  Service 

Provider must provide services under this Agreement as an independent contractor.  Service 
Provider must comply with all federal and state laws and regulations applicable to 
independent contractors including, but not limited to, the requirements listed in this Section.  
Service Provider agrees to indemnify and defend the City from and against any claims, valid 
or otherwise, made against the City because of these obligations.  

B. In addition to the other requirements of this Section, if Service Provider is a sole proprietor, 
Service Provider agrees that Service Provider is not an employee or worker of the City under 
Chapter 51 of the Revised Code of Washington, Industrial Insurance for the service 
performed in accordance with this Agreement, by certifying to the following: 

(1) Service Provider is free from control or direction over the performance of the 
service; and 

(2) The service performed is outside the usual course of business for the City, or will 
not be performed at any place of business of the City, or Service Provider is 
responsible for the costs of the principal place of business from which the service 



General Provisions - 4 

is performed; and  
(3) Service Provider is customarily engaged in an independently established business 

of the same nature as the service performed, or has a principal place of business 
for the service performed that is eligible for a business deduction for federal 
income tax purposes; and 

(4) On the effective date of this Agreement, Service Provider is responsible for filing 
a schedule of expenses, for the next applicable filing period, with the internal 
revenue service for the type of service performed; and 

(5) By the effective date of this Agreement or within a reasonable time thereafter, 
Service Provider has established an account with the department of revenue and 
other state agencies, where required, for the service performed for the payment 
of all state taxes normally paid by employers and businesses and has registered 
for and received a unified business identifier number from the state of 
Washington; and 

(6) By the effective date of this Agreement, Service Provider is maintaining a separate 
set of records that reflect all items of income and expenses of the services 
performed. 

C. Any and all employees of Service Provider, while engaged in the performance of any Work, 
shall be considered employees of only Service Provider and not employees of the City.  
Service Provider shall be solely liable for any and all claims that may or might arise under the 
Worker's Compensation Act on behalf of such employees or Service Provider, while so 
engaged and for any and all claims made by a third party as a consequence of any negligent 
act or omission on the part of Service Provider's employees, while so engaged on any of the 
Work. 

D. Service Provider shall comply with all applicable provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act 
and other legislation affecting its employees and the rules and regulations issued thereunder 
insofar as applicable to its employees and shall at all times save the City free, clear and 
harmless from all actions, claims, demands and expenses arising out of such act, and rules 
and regulations that are or may be promulgated in connection therewith. 

E.      Service Provider assumes full responsibility for the payment of all payroll taxes, use, sales, 
income, or other form of taxes (such as state and, city business and occupation taxes), fees, 
licenses, excises or payments required by any city, federal or state legislation which are now 
or may during the term of the Agreement be enacted as to all persons employed by Service 
Provider and as to all duties, activities and requirements by Service Provider in performance 
of the Work and Service Provider shall assume exclusive liability therefor, and meet all 
requirements thereunder pursuant to any rules or regulations that are now or may be 
promulgated in connection therewith. 

14. Employment/Conflict of Interest.  Service Provider warrants that it has not employed or retained 
any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for Service Provider, to 
solicit or secure this Agreement and that it has not paid or agreed to pay any company or person, 
other than a bona fide employee working solely for Service Provider, any fee, commission, 
percentage, brokerage fee, gifts, or any other consideration, contingent upon or resulting from 
the award or making of this Agreement. For breach or violation of this warranty, the City shall 
have the right to annul this Agreement without liability or, in its discretion, to deduct from the 
Agreement price or consideration or otherwise recover, the full amount of such fee, commission, 
percentage, brokerage fee, gift, or contingent fee.  Further, it is recognized that Service Provider 
may or will be performing professional services during the term of this Agreement for other 
parties; however, such performance of other services shall not conflict with or interfere with 



General Provisions - 5 

Service Provider's ability to perform the Work. Service Provider agrees to resolve any such 
conflicts of interest in favor of the City.   

15. Audits and Inspections.  At any time during normal business hours and as often as the City may 
deem necessary, Service Provider shall make available to the City for the City’s examination all of 
Service Provider’s records and documents with respect to all matters covered by this Agreement 
and, furthermore, Service Provider will permit the City to audit, examine and make copies, 
excerpts or transcripts from such records, and to make audits of all contracts, invoices, materials, 
payrolls, records of personnel, conditions of employment and other data relating to all matters 
covered by this Agreement. 

16. City of Everett Business License.  Service Provider agrees to obtain a City of Everett business 
license prior to performing any work pursuant to this Agreement. 

17. State of Washington Requirements.  Service Provider agrees to register and obtain any State of 
Washington business licenses, Department of Revenue account and/or unified business identifier 
number as required by RCW 50.04.140 and 51.08.195 prior to performing any work pursuant to 
this Agreement. 

18. Compliance with Federal, State and Local Laws.  Service Provider shall comply with and obey all 
federal, state and local laws, regulations, and ordinances applicable to the operation of its 
business and to its performance of work hereunder.   

19. Compliance with the Washington State Public Records Act.  Service Provider acknowledges that 
the City is subject to the Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW (the “Act”).  All records owned, 
used or retained by the City are public records subject to disclosure unless exempt under the Act, 
whether or not such records are in the possession or control of the City or Service Provider.  
Service Provider shall cooperate with the City so that the City may comply with all of its obligations 
under the Act.  Within ten (10) days after receipt of notice from the City, Service Provider shall 
deliver to the City copies of all records relating to this Agreement or relating to the Work that the 
City determines qualify as the City’s public records under the Act.  If the City receives a public 
records request relating to this Agreement or relating to the Work, the City shall seek to provide 
notice to Service Provider at least ten (10) days before the City releases records pursuant to such 
public records request, but in no event will the City have any liability to Service Provider for any 
failure of the City to provide such notice.  In addition to its other indemnification and defense 
obligations under this Agreement, Service Provider shall indemnify and defend the City from and 
against any and all losses, penalties, fines, claims, demands, expenses (including, but not limited 
to, attorney’s fees and litigation expenses), suits, judgments, or damage arising from or relating 
to any failure of Service Provider to comply with this Section. 

20. Compliance with Grant/Loan Terms and Conditions.  Service Provider shall comply with any and 
all terms, conditions, terms and requirements of any federal, state or other agency grant or loan 
that wholly or partially funds Service Provider’s work hereunder. If the grant or loan requires that 
the agency be a third-party beneficiary to this Agreement, then the agency is a third party 
beneficiary to this Agreement. 

21. Equal Employment Opportunity.  Service Provider shall not discriminate against any employee, 
applicant for employment, or other person on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, age, 
disability, marital state, or national origin or other circumstance prohibited by applicable 
federal, state, or local law or ordinance.  Service Provider shall comply with and shall not violate 
any applicable provisions of Chapter 49.60 RCW, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and all 
applicable federal, state, or local law or ordinance regarding non-discrimination.   

22. Waiver.  Any waiver by Service Provider or the City or the breach of any provision of this 
Agreement by the other party will not operate, or be construed, as a waiver of any subsequent 
breach by either party or prevent either party from thereafter enforcing any such provisions. 



General Provisions - 6 

23. Complete Agreement.  This Agreement contains the complete and integrated understanding and 
agreement between the parties and supersedes any understanding, agreement or negotiation 
whether oral or written not set forth herein.  The title of this Agreement and the headings used 
in this Agreement, are for ease of reference only and shall not in any way be construed to limit or 
alter the meaning of any provision. 

24. Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement may only be modified as provided in Section 8, or 
by a writing explicitly identified as a modification or amendment of this Agreement that is signed 
by authorized representatives of the City and Service Provider. 

25. Severability.  If any part of this Agreement is found to be in conflict with applicable laws, such 
part shall be inoperative, null and void, insofar as it is in conflict with said laws, and the remainder 
of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

26. Notices. 
A. Notices to the City shall be sent to the City Project Manager address in the Basic Provisions. 
B. Notices to Service Provider shall be sent to its address in the Basic Provisions. 

27. Venue.  Venue for any lawsuit arising out of this Agreement shall be in the Superior Court of 
Snohomish County, Washington.   

28. Governing Law.  The laws of the State of Washington, without giving effect to principles of conflict 
of laws, govern all matters arising out of or relating to this Agreement. 

29. City Marks.  Service Provider will not use any trade name, trademark, service mark, or logo of the 
City (or any name, mark, or logo confusingly similar thereto) in any advertising, promotions, or 
otherwise, without the City's express prior written consent. 

30. No Personal Liability.  No officer, agent or employee of the City shall be personally responsible 
for any liability arising under this Agreement, whether expressed or implied, nor for any 
statement or representation made or in any connection with this Agreement. 

31. Federal Debarment.  Service Provider shall immediately notify the City of any suspension or 
debarment or other action that excludes Service Provider or any Service Provider subcontractor from 
participation in Federal contracting.  Service Provider shall verify all subcontractors that are intended 
and/or used by Service Provider for performance of Work are in good standing and are not debarred, 
suspended or otherwise ineligible by the Federal Government.  Debarment shall be verified at 
https://www.epls.gov/epls/search.do.  Service Provider shall keep proof of such verification within 
Service Provider records. 

32. Signature/Counterparts.  This Agreement and any amendment may be signed in counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which, taken together, shall be deemed one and the 
same document.  Signatures with AdobeSIgn are fully binding.  Any ink, electronic, faxed, scanned, 
photocopied, or similarly reproduced signature on this Agreement or any amendment hereto will be 
deemed an original signature and will be fully enforceable as an original signature. 

 
END OF GENERAL PROVISIONS 

(v.070324) 



 

 

Attachment A 
Scope of Services 

 

The Service Provider will build upon the ecosystem required to support entrepreneurs and 
innovation in Everett. 

The Service Provider will provide support of entrepreneurs and inventors by providing direct 
technical assistance to entrepreneurs located in Everett or establishing their business in 
Everett and will identify mentors who can be of assistance to the entrepreneurs and 
inventors in Everett. 

The Service Provider will create cohort and accelerator programs that will aid 
entrepreneurs and small businesses with skills to integrate new technologies into their 
products to be more competitive in the digital economy. 

The Service Provider will create informational presentations for entrepreneurs, small 
businesses, community and government groups about the fast developing technologies. 
These will include Artificial Intelligence and Augmented Reality technologies. 

The Service Provider will assist new businesses starting their businesses in Everett to 
understand options for accessing private capital. It will aide entrepreneurs and inventors to 
prepare materials required by the funding sources. The Service Provider will also assist with 
identifying additional potential investors for Everett based startups. 

The Service Provider will utilize its partnership with CleanTech Alliance, Maritime Blue and 
Washington Technology Industry Association partnerships to add resources for the Everett 
ecosystem. It will further partner with Education Institutions, Port of Everett, Economic 
Alliance of Snohomish County, Business Leaders and others to complete activities which 
will contribute to a sustainable entrepreneurial environment in Everett including working 
with WSU students to encourage entrepreneurial activity in the area; work with the Everett 
Community College AMTEC program to evaluate commercial potential of activities of the 
students’ capstone projects. The Service Provider will work with Workforce Snohomish to 
provide training support for dislocated Boeing workers. 

Service Provider is granted a permanent non-exclusive license to re-use intellectual 
property created by Service provider under this Agreement, so long as the re-used 
intellectual property does not reference the City unless the City gives permission. 



An Ordinance Creating a Special Improvements Project Entitled "Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park”, Fund 308, 
Program 083, to Accumulate Construction Costs for the Eclipse Mill Park Project in the Amount of $4,400,000 

Project title:  

Council Bill # 

Project: Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park Construction 

Partner/Supplier: TBD 

     Location: Riverfront Development Area 

Preceding action:  Funding Ordinance 3986-23 

Fund: Fund 308, Program 083 

Agenda dates requested: 

Briefing           
Proposed action    04/30/25 
Proposed action    05/07/25 
Consent         
Action                      05/14/25 

Public hearing 
Yes  X No 

Budget amendment: 
Yes X No 

PowerPoint presentation: 
Yes  X No 

Attachments: 
Ordinance Amendment 

Department(s) involved: 
Parks & Facilities 
Finance 

Contact person: 
Bob Leonard 

Phone number: 
425-257-8335

Email: 
bleonard@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
RML 

Department head 

Administration 

Council President 

Fiscal summary statement: 
On December 13, 2023, City Council adopted an ordinance to fund design and construction 
support services for the Eclipse Mill Park and Riverfront Trail Projects in the amount $1,113,752.  
This ordinance will provide the funding necessary to complete physical construction of the Later 
Phase Eclipse Mill Park project. The source of funds for the project is 2025 Limited-Tax General 
Obligation (LTGO) Series B bond proceeds.  The funding needed for the construction of the Later 
Phase Eclipse Mill Park project is $4,400,000.   

Project summary statement: 

The work at Eclipse Mill Park will develop the waterside portion of the future park, the site of a 
former lumber mill.  Completed amenities include a river overlook deck, gangway and personal 
watercraft floating boarding dock on the Snohomish River, debris deflector, and access trail in the 
lowland park area. 

The project will lay back and stabilize the riverbank and install stone column ground 
improvements.  Relic timber piles, concrete debris, and other associated debris will be removed 
from the riverbank.  The shoreline will be restored with native plantings and aquatic habitat 
which will be enhanced with streambed sediment and large woody debris.   

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Adopt an Ordinance creating a special improvements project entitled “Later Phase Eclipse Mill 
Park”, Fund 308, Program 083, to accumulate construction costs for the Eclipse Mill Park Project 
in the amount of $4,400,000. 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet

CB 2504-25

https://lfportal.everettwa.gov/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=1608826&searchid=63397cd7-8a5d-4256-886b-cf15ebab56b1&dbid=0


 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO. __________ 
 
An Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled "Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park”, Fund 
308, Program 083, to accumulate construction costs for the Eclipse Mill Park Project in the amount of 
$4,400,000. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

A. The City of Everett is committed to a planned parks capital improvement program as part of 
the City of Everett Parks & Recreation Comprehensive Plan. 

 
B. The City of Everett is committed to the construction of the Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park 

Project in advance of the Eclipse Mill Park by Shelter Holdings. 
 
C. The Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park Project shall include stabilization of the Snohomish 

riverbank, river overlook, gangway and personal watercraft floating boarding dock and 
debris deflector. 

 
D. Ordinance 3839-21 established Fund 354, Program 073 to accumulate design costs for the 

project in the amount of $600,000. 
 
E. Ordinance 3986-23 was established amending Ordinance 3839-21, Fund 354, Program 073, 

to accumulate design, bid, and construction support services for the project in the amount 
of $1,113,752. 

 
F. Additional funding is required to construct the Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park amenities. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1.  A special improvement project is hereby established as Fund 308, Program 083, and shall be 
entitled “Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park” to accumulate all construction costs for the improvement 
project. 
  
Section 2.  Authorization is hereby granted to the Parks and Facilities Department Director under the 
administration of the Mayor, to assume full responsibility for conducting all tasks and performing all 
necessary steps to accomplish the actions authorized by this Ordinance. 
 
Section 3.  The estimated cost of construction is $4,400,000. 
 
Section 4.  The sum of $4,400,000 is hereby appropriated to Fund 308, Program 083, “Later Phase 



2025 ORDINANCE: Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park  
                  Page 2 of 3 

 

Eclipse Mill Park” as follows. 
 
 
The sum of $4,400,000 is hereby appropriated to Fund 308, Program 083, “Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park” 

 
A. Use of Funds 

Construction       $4,400,000 
Total Costs       $4,400,000 

 
B. Source of Funds 

2025 LTGO Series B Bond Proceeds    $4,400,000 
Total Costs       $4,400,000 

 
C. The appropriation shall not lapse but shall be carried forward from year to year until fully 

expended or the purpose has been accomplished or abandoned without the necessity of 
reappropriation. 

 
 

Section 5.  The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 
 
Section 6.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 7.  The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 8.  It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, safety 
and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular 
class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this 
Ordinance.  It is the specific intent of this Ordinance that no provision or any term used in this Ordinance 
is intended to impose any duty whatsoever upon the City or any of its officers or employees.  Nothing 
contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the basis of any liability 
on the part of the City, or its officers, employees or agents, for any injury or damage resulting from any 
action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of this Ordinance by 
its officers, employees or agents. 

 

      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 



2025 ORDINANCE: Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park  
                  Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Marista Jorve, City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     



Project title: An Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled “WPCF FEN Meter
Replacement” Fund 336, Program 048. 

Council Bill # interoffice use Project: WPCF FEN Meter Replacement 

Partner/Supplier: N/A 

 Location: Water Pollution Control Facility (WPCF) 

Preceding action:  None 

Fund: 336 - Water & Sewer System Improvements Fund 

Agenda dates requested: 

Briefing 
1st Reading  04/30/25 
2nd Reading   05/07/25 
Action  05/14/25 
Ordinance   X 
Public hearing 

Yes  X No 

Budget amendment: 
Yes X No 

PowerPoint presentation: 
Yes  X No 

Attachments: 
Proposed Ordinance 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 

Contact person: 
Jeff Marrs  

Phone number: 
425-257-8967

Email: 
jmarrs@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head 

Administration 

Council President 

Fiscal summary statement:  
The funding source for this project will be Fund 401 Water and Sewer Utility Fund. 

The programmed available funding for engineering assessment and design of this project is 
$250,000. 

Project summary statement: 

The existing WPCF Final Effluent North (FEN) pump station flow metering system is beyond its 
useful life and inaccurate at certain flow rates. Accuracy and/or calibration issues have the 
potential to become Department of Ecology (DOE) permit compliance issues. WPCF staff have 
shelf ready parts and can keep the current metering system in service for the next two to three 
years; however, additional replacement parts are no longer available. The proposed project will 
replace the FEN metering system with a more appropriate metering system to ensure that WPCF 
remains in compliance with DOE permitting requirements. The new system may require 
reconfiguring the pump station outlet piping and possible work within adjacent wetland areas. 

Council approval of this ordinance will provide funding for engineering assessment and design 
phase of the project. 

Public Works will return with a subsequent funding ordinance when design is substantially 
complete and detailed construction cost estimates are available. 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Adopt an Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled “WPCF FEN Meter 
Replacement” Fund 336, Program 048. 

City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet

CB 2504-26



 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO.      
 
An ORDINANCE creating a special improvement project entitled “WPCF FEN Meter Replacement” Fund 
336, Program 048, to accumulate all costs for the improvement. 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

A. The City of Everett is committed to a planned sewer treatment infrastructure improvement and 
replacement program. 

 
B. The City of Everett has identified the need and obtained funds to construct new improvements at 

the Water Pollution Control Facility. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. A special improvement project is hereby established as Fund 336, Program 048, entitled 
“WPCF FEN Meter Replacement” to accumulate all costs for the improvement. Authorization is hereby 
given to accumulate costs and distribute payments for the improvement project. 
 
Section 2. Authorization is hereby granted for the “Public Works Director” or “City Engineer” under 
the direction of the Mayor, to assume full and complete responsibility for conducting all tasks and doing 
all things to accomplish the actions authorized in this ordinance. 

 
Section 3. The sum of $250,000 is hereby appropriated to Fund 336, Program 048, “WPCF FEN 
Meter Replacement” as follows: 
 
 A. Estimated Project Assessment & Design Costs    $      250,000 
 
 B. Source of Funds 
      Fund 401 – Water/Sewer Utility Fund     $      250,000 
  
 
Section 4. The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 
 
Section 5. The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, 



ORDINANCE  Page 2 of 2 
 

or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 6. The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 7. It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, 
safety, and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any 
particular class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms 
of this Ordinance.  It is the specific intent of this Ordinance that no provision or any term used in this 
Ordinance is intended to impose any duty whatsoever upon the City or any of its officers or employees.  
Nothing contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the basis of any 
liability on the part of the City, or its officers, employees, or agents, for any injury or damage resulting 
from any action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of this 
Ordinance by its officers, employees, or agents. 
 
 
            
            
      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marista Jorve, City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     

 



                                                                                                                                                                                
 

    City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title:  
An Ordinance creating a special improvement project entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge 
Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, to accumulate all costs for the improvement and 
repealing Ordinance No. 4072-25. 

Council Bill #  
CB 2504-27 

Consideration: Plans & Systems Ordinance 

Project: Edgewater Creek Bridge Replacement 

Partner/Supplier: WA State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) 

                    Location: Mukilteo Boulevard at Shore Avenue 

Preceding action:  
Ordinance No. 3636-18, approved on 11/21/18 
Ordinance No. 3719-19, approved on 12/18/19 
Ordinance No. 4002-24, approved on 2/21/24 
Ordinance No. 4072-25, approved on 2/5/25 

Fund: Fund 303 – Public Works Improvement Projects 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing    
1st Reading      05/07/2025 
2nd Reading     05/14/2025 
Consent 
Action              05/21/2025 
Ordinance            X 
Public hearing 
 Yes     X No  
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes  X No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  X No 

 

Attachments: 
Proposed Ordinance 
 

Department(s) involved: 
Public Works, Admin 
 

Contact person: 
Tom Hood 
 

Phone number: 
(425) 257-8809 
 

Email: 
thood@everettwa.gov 
 

Initialed by: 
RLS 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement:  
Ordinance 4072-25 authorized an appropriation of $34,850,000 for design and construction of the 
project. 

The City has received proceeds from the Limited Tax General Obligation (LTGO) Bonds, Series A and 
B. An allocation of $4,150,000 from the Series A bond proceeds will be applied to fund this project. 
This funding will offset a corresponding reduction in the prior local fund allocation from Fund 157. 
The total project appropriation and costs remain unchanged. 

This Ordinance will repeal Ordinance 4072-25, and authorizes the following appropriations to be 
programmed: 

Design and Construction (previously programmed)                        $  34,850,000 
 LTGO Series A Bond Proceeds (newly programmed)        $     4,150,000 
 Fund 157 – Traffic Mitigation (programmed reduction)                 $   (4,150,000) 
 Total Project Costs        $   34,850,000 
 
The total programmed available funding for design and construction of the project is $34,850,000. 
The funding sources for this project will be as follows: 

Bridge Program – Federal Funds                                     $  25,000,000 
 DEMO Grant ID # WA329 & WA368                      $    3,850,000 
 LTGO Series A Bond Proceeds       $    4,150,000 

Fund 157 – Traffic Mitigation                                   $    1,850,000 
Total Funds         $  34,850,000 
 

Project summary statement:  

This ordinance amends the funding appropriations to reflect usage of LTGO Bonds, for the removal 
and replacement of the existing Edgewater Creek Bridge, which was built in 1946 and is a vital link in 
a chain of three bridges that provide the only access to neighborhoods along Mukilteo Boulevard. 

The existing bridge is a non-redundant two girder composite deck concrete structure that is 
structurally deficient in load capacity.  In addition, the bridge is seismically vulnerable and 
functionally obsolete due to narrow substandard traffic lanes and sidewalks. 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 

Adopt an Ordinance creating a Special Improvement Project entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge 
Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, to accumulate all costs for the improvement and repealing 
Ordinance No. 4072-25. 

 

https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/8587?fileID=51005
https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/10210?fileID=63847
https://www.everettwa.gov/AgendaCenter/ViewFile/Item/16588?fileID=91882
https://lfportal.everettwa.gov/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=1827089&searchid=a6df771e-4646-43de-8cf1-44549e64920a&dbid=0&cr=1


 
 
 
 
 
 
ORDINANCE NO.       
 
An ORDINANCE creating a special improvement project entitled “Edgewater Creek Bridge 
Replacement” Fund 303, Program 115, and repealing Ordinance No. 4072-25 
 
WHEREAS,  
 

A. The City of Everett is committed to replacing structurally deficient and functionally obsolete 
bridge infrastructure. 

 
B. The bridge over Edgewater Creek requires complete replacement. 

 
C. The City of Everett has identified the need and obtained Federal funds to remove and replace the 

existing structure. 
 

D. Ordinance No. 4072-25 obligated funds for the design and construction and there is need to 
program bond proceeds. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. Ordinance No. 4072-25 is hereby repealed. 
 
Section 2. A special improvement project is hereby established as Fund 303, Program 115, entitled 
“Edgewater Creek Bridge Replacement” to accumulate all costs for the improvement. Authorization is 
hereby given to accumulate costs and distribute payments for the improvement project. 

 
Section 3. Authorization is hereby granted for the “Public Works Director” or “City Engineer” under 
direction of the Mayor, to assume full and complete responsibility for conducting all tasks and doing all 
things to accomplish the actions authorized in this ordinance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Section 4.  The sum of $34,850,000 is hereby appropriated to Fund 303, Program 115, “Edgewater 



ORDINANCE  Page 2 of 3 
 

Creek Bridge Replacement” as follows: 
 
 A. Estimated Project Costs $34,850,000 
 
 B.  Source of Funds  
 Bridge Program – Federal Funds BRM-2776(009) $25,000,000 
 DEMO Grant – ID # WA329 and WA368 3,850,000 
 LTGO Series A Bond Proceeds 4,150,000 
 Fund 157 – Traffic Mitigation       1,850,000 
 Total Funds  $34,850,000 
 
Section 5. The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 
 
Section 6.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or 
phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 7.  The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
Section 8.  It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, safety, 
and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular 
class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this 
Ordinance.  It is the specific intent of this Ordinance that no provision or any term used in this Ordinance 
is intended to impose any duty whatsoever upon the City or any of its officers or employees.  Nothing 
contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the basis of any liability 
on the part of the City, or its officers, employees, or agents, for any injury or damage resulting from any 
action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of this Ordinance by 
its officers, employees, or agents. 
            
            
      
Cassie Franklin, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Marista Jorve, City Clerk 
 
PASSED:      



ORDINANCE  Page 3 of 3 
 

VALID:       

PUBLISHED:      

EFFECTIVE DATE:     

 



                                                                                                                                                                           
 

   City Council Agenda Item Cover Sheet 

 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Project title: Apprenticeship Ordinance 

Council Bill # interoffice use  
CB 2504-28 

Project: Apprenticeship Ordinance, expanding current requirements 

Partner/Supplier:  NA 

                    Location: NA 

Preceding action:  
Ordinance 7461 related to projects above $5million adopted 12/18/19 
and Apprenticeship Resolution 5286 related to City buildings adopted 
1/8/03 

Fund: NA 

Agenda dates requested:  
 

Briefing                 05/07/2025 
Proposed action  05/14/2025 
Consent 
Action                   05/21/2025 
Ordinance                     X 
Public hearing             
    Yes    x No 
 

Budget amendment: 
 Yes   x No 

 

PowerPoint presentation: 
 Yes  x No 

 

Attachments: 
Apprenticeship Ordinance 
 

Department(s) involved: 
 
 

Contact person: 
Jennifer Gregerson 
 

Phone number: 
 
 

Email: 
jgregerson@everettwa.gov 

Initialed by: 
 
Department head  
 
Administration 
 
Council President  

Fiscal summary statement: NA 
Project summary statement: 

This apprenticeship ordinance would expand existing requirements to all city projects. Current 
state law covers all projects above a $2m threshold. This ordinance would expand that beginning 
on July 1, 2026 to projects above a $1.5m threshold, and dropping to include all projects above a 
$1.0m threshold on July 1, 2027. State law requires the same, but on a longer timeline ending on 
7/1/28. 

City staff communicated with various contracting representatives, labor representatives and staff 
subject matter experts to draft, review and finalize this proposal.  

This ordinance includes objective requirements for future bids, ensuring that contractors who do 
not comply within a two-year retrospective window are not allowed to earn future contracts, 
based on good-faith efforts. The language related to good faith efforts is the same as the 
statewide WSDOT apprenticeship requirements. 

The ordinance includes robust reporting requirements for the number and percentage of 
apprentices by craft, gender, minorities, and veterans.  

 

Recommendation (exact action requested of Council): 
Adopt an Ordinance relating to Utilization of Apprentices on Public Works Construction Projects, 
adding a new section to chapter 3.80 EMC. 

 

https://lfportal.everettwa.gov/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=1013308&searchid=a9b5360b-a41f-4ac9-8da2-0691b807b68f&dbid=0
https://lfportal.everettwa.gov/WebLink/DocView.aspx?id=457108&searchid=2874eefe-ad02-4098-8cf9-7183fa1b8e04&dbid=0


1 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

An ORDINANCE relating to Utilization of Apprentices on Public Works Construction Projects, adding a 
new section to chapter 3.80 EMC. 

WHEREAS, 

A. A highly skilled workforce is essential for enhanced economic growth and the continued
prosperity of workers and the City of Everett.

B. Shortages of skilled construction workers limit job growth and affect our economy.

C. The responsibility to train the next generation of skilled workers rests with both the public and
private sectors.

D. The City of Everett is committed to working in partnership with labor and business to create a
skilled workforce that reflects the diversity of our population and promotes community
development.

E. Growing participation in apprenticeship programs today will ensure a viable workforce in the
construction trade industry tomorrow.

F. In connection with apprentice utilization, the City Council in 2003 adopted Resolution 5286
(entitled “Promoting the Use of Apprentices in Public Works Projects”), which states that “the
City shall require good faith efforts from contractors” so that the level of apprenticeship
participation is fifteen percent (15%) of total labor hours "for contracts estimated to cost more
than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) for the construction, remodeling, or renovation of City
buildings."

G. In Resolution 7461 (entitled “A Resolution of the City of Everett concerning Project Labor
Agreements and Community Workforce Agreements”), the City Council in 2019 stated as follows
regarding the apprenticeship requirement in Resolution No. 5286:

In practice, this apprentice requirement has been applied to projects relating to City 
buildings by the Facilities department. Past projects using this apprenticeship 
requirement include the Municipal Court project, the Key Bank remodel and the current 
Evergreen Branch Library expansion project. The City Council intends for City staff to 
continue the City's longstanding and successful apprenticeship requirements and 
practices under Resolution No. 5286. 



2 

H. RCW 39.04.320 was revised in 2023 to establish the following schedule for implementation of
apprentice requirements on municipal public works contracts:

RCW 39.04.320 
Date Threshold Requirement 

Contracts awarded after  
July 1, 2024 $2,000,000 or more 15 percent of labor hours 

performed by apprentices 
Contracts advertised for bid 

on or after July 1, 2026 $1,500,000 or more 15 percent of the labor hours 
performed by apprentices 

Contracts advertised for bid 
on or after July 1, 2028 $1,000,000 or more 15 percent of the labor hours 

performed by apprentices 

One purpose of this ordinance is to implement the apprentice requirement for contracts or 
$1,000,000 or more on July 1, 2027, rather than the July 1, 2028 date established under RCW 
39.04.320.  

I. In light of the critical importance of training tomorrow’s workforce, the City Council has now 
determined that the City will:

• continue its apprentice requirements for projects to City buildings by the City Parks and 
Facilities department estimated to cost $1 million or more, and

• implement apprentice requirements for all other projects on a faster schedule than the 
schedule under RCW 39.04.320.

The purpose of this ordinance is to implement these determinations. 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF EVERETT DOES ORDAIN: 

Section 1.  A new section (to be codified as EMC 3.80.070 and entitled “Apprentice Utilization”) is hereby 
added to Chapter 3.80 EMC as shown below.  This section supersedes and replaces Resolution 5286 
(entitled “Promoting the Use of Apprentices in Public Works Projects”) for all public works advertised for 
bid on or after July 1, 2025.  Resolution 5286 remains in effect for projects advertised prior to that date. 

EMC 3.80.070  Apprentice Utilization 

A. Definitions.  The following definitions apply to this section.

1. “Apprentice” means an apprentice enrolled or registered in an apprenticeship training
program approved or recognized by the Washington State Apprenticeship and Training
Council.

2. “Apprentice utilization rate” means the percentage of labor hours, including contractor and
subcontractor hours, performed by apprentices.

3. “Contractor” means a person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or joint
venture under contract with the City to construct a public work.

4. “Director” means the City department director whose department is undertaking the public
work.

5. “Estimated cost” or “estimated to cost” means the anticipated construction cost of a public
work, as determined by the City, based upon the expected costs of materials, supplies,
equipment, and labor, but excluding taxes.



3 

6. “Labor hours” means the total hours of workers receiving an hourly wage who are directly
employed upon the public works project. "Labor hours" includes hours performed by
workers employed by the contractor and all subcontractors working on the project. "Labor
hours" does not include hours worked by foremen, superintendents, owners, and workers
who are not subject to prevailing wage requirements.

7. “Public work” is as defined by RCW 39.04.010 as may be superseded or amended.

8. “Subcontractor” means a person, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or
joint venture that has contracted with the contractor or subcontractor of any tier to perform
all or part of the public work.

B. Project Requirements

1. Apprentice Utilization Requirement.  For the City public works projects listed below, the
project contract shall require the specified apprentice utilization rate.  However, this
requirement does not apply when it conflicts with federal funding conditions or the
conditions of any other funding.

a. For projects relating to City buildings by the City Parks and Facilities department
estimated to cost $1 million or more, the required apprentice utilization rate shall
be no less than fifteen percent of the labor hours.

b. For all other projects:

i. For contracts advertised for bid on or after July 1, 2026 estimated to cost
$1.5 million or more, the required apprentice utilization rate shall be no less
than fifteen percent of the labor hours.

ii. For contracts advertised for bid on or after July 1, 2027, estimated to cost
$1 million or more, the required apprentice utilization rate shall be no less
than fifteen percent of the labor hours.

2. Supplemental Bidder Responsibility Requirements.  Solicitations for projects with a required
apprentice utilization rate under this section or under state law shall include supplemental
bidder responsibility criteria (or similar requirements) pertaining to apprentice utilization
requirements.  A bidder will be not responsible, if, on any public project completed by the
bidder during the two-year period immediately preceding the date of the bid solicitation,
the awarding agency for the completed project made a final determination that the bidder
failed without good faith efforts approved by the awarding agency to meet applicable
project apprentice utilization requirements.

3. Preconstruction Apprentice Plan.   A bidder awarded a project with a required apprentice
utilization rate under this section shall submit an apprentice utilization plan prior to the
preconstruction meeting that reflects its plan to meet or exceed the required apprentice
utilization rate.  Contractors shall update their apprentice utilization plan throughout the
project to reflect changes to their plan to meet the required apprentice utilization rate.

4. Contract Requirements.  Contract documents for projects with a required apprentice
utilization rate under this section shall include provisions detailing the apprentice labor
requirements, including enforcement provisions and provisions requiring monitoring and
periodic reporting.



4 

5. Adjustment.  The Director may adjust a project’s apprentice utilization rate upon the
Director’s determination that at least one of the following reasons apply:

a. A demonstrated lack of availability of apprentices in the specific geographic area of
the project;

b. the contractor has demonstrated a good faith effort to comply with the requirements
of this section but has been unable;

c. the project has a disproportionately high ratio of material costs to labor hours, which
does not make feasible the required apprentice utilization rate; or

d. other reason(s) as may be determined by the City Council.

In lieu of the adjustment procedure in this Section 5, contract documents for projects may 
instead include good faith effort (GFE) procedures substantially similar to WSDOT local project 
template apprentice provisions.  

6. Reporting.  The Mayor shall report to the City Council annually upon the use of apprentices
for projects with a required apprentice utilization rate under this section.  The report shall
include to the extent it is available:

a. The percentage of labor hours actually worked by apprentices on each project and
the total number of labor hours on each such project;

b. The number of apprentices by contractor broken down by trade and craft category;

c. The number and percentage of minorities, women and veterans utilized as
apprentices on each project;

d. The number and percentage of City of Everett residents utilized as apprentices on
each project; and

e. Data, to the extent it is available, on the use and issuance of exceptions and waivers
under EMC 3.80.070.B.5 for the prior 12-month period.

“Craft” for this reporting subsection means each and every trade and occupation recognized 
as being involved in public work based on Washington State Prevailing Wage Rules in 
WAC 296-127-013. 

Section 2.  The City Clerk and the codifiers of this Ordinance are authorized to make necessary 
corrections to this Ordinance, including, but not limited to, the correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, 
references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection numbers, and any internal references. 

Section 3.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or 
phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it 
would have passed all portions of this ordinance independent of the elimination of any such portion as 
may be declared invalid. 

Section 4.  The enactment of this Ordinance shall not affect any case, proceeding, appeal, or other 
matter currently pending in any court or in any way modify any right or liability, civil or criminal, which 
may be in existence on the effective date of this Ordinance. 

Section 5.  It is expressly the purpose of this Ordinance to provide for and promote the health, safety, 
and welfare of the general public and not to create or otherwise establish or designate any particular 
class or group of persons who will or should be especially protected or benefited by the terms of this 
Ordinance.  Nothing contained in this Ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to create or form the 



5 

basis of any liability on the part of the City, or its officers, employees, or agents, for any injury or damage 
resulting from any action or inaction on the part of the City related in any manner to the enforcement of 
this Ordinance by its officers, employees, or agents. 

Section 6.  This ordinance is effective July 1, 2025. 

Cassie Franklin, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk 

PASSED:  

VALID:   

PUBLISHED:   

EFFECTIVE DATE: JULY 1, 2025 



From: Jose Villalaz
To: Angela Ely
Subject: Re: [EXTERNAL] Council comments
Date: Wednesday, April 30, 2025 1:36:37 PM
Attachments: image002.png

Category 2: Sensitive information

Please add it to next week's written communication please 

Jose Villalaz 

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone
Get Outlook for Android

Category 2: For official use only / disclosure permissible by law.

From: Angela Ely <AEly@everettwa.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, April 30, 2025 1:35:13 PM
To: Jose Villalaz <j_villalaz@hotmail.com>
Subject: RE: [EXTERNAL] Council comments
 

Category 2: Sensitive information

Hi Jose,
As I mentioned in the past, written comments consist of emails received that pertain to items
that are on the upcoming council agenda or is an ongoing project managed by the city. I
understand the situation at Andy’s Place has been a topic discussed at council, mainly during
public comment, but it was not included on today’s council agenda; therefore, it does not
become part of the city clerk’s final packet posted online. 
If you are wishing to have your email submitted as public comment for the record, in lieu of
speaking during public comment, you can mention that in your email. I will see if I can get it in
today’s agenda packet that the city clerk posts.
Sincerely,
Angela
 

Angela Ely
Executive Assistant | Everett City Council
425.257.8703| 2930 Wetmore Ave, Ste 9A, Everett, WA 98201
everettwa.gov  | Facebook  | Twitter
 

Note: Emails and attachments sent to and from the City of Everett are public records and may be subject to disclosure
pursuant to the Public Records Act.

mailto:j_villalaz@hotmail.com
mailto:AEly@everettwa.gov
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Faka.ms%2FAAb9ysg&data=05%7C02%7CAEly%40everettwa.gov%7C0cb6a7a63d3844fd32fb08dd8826b1f9%7C7ac422a9fc2d41b89bff064aaf2eb0c4%7C1%7C0%7C638816421966822066%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=d6Txnuovl5GnIXsepoF2YRxAzOBLhuF2XPZ9R%2Faxz2w%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Feverettwa.gov%2F&data=05%7C02%7CAEly%40everettwa.gov%7C0cb6a7a63d3844fd32fb08dd8826b1f9%7C7ac422a9fc2d41b89bff064aaf2eb0c4%7C1%7C0%7C638816421966843238%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=EjCuAIE9uq9FcYpqDOL6%2Fw2ZqpoJjYRtKY1mUcZ3niU%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.facebook.com%2FEverettCity&data=05%7C02%7CAEly%40everettwa.gov%7C0cb6a7a63d3844fd32fb08dd8826b1f9%7C7ac422a9fc2d41b89bff064aaf2eb0c4%7C1%7C0%7C638816421966856816%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=CutSEDYqDqmcuWfRULkLe4mYxQqmK1kcxdwVc1RAajU%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2Feverettcity&data=05%7C02%7CAEly%40everettwa.gov%7C0cb6a7a63d3844fd32fb08dd8826b1f9%7C7ac422a9fc2d41b89bff064aaf2eb0c4%7C1%7C0%7C638816421966869703%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=Lnj59JE5dYYKswPcYCsQyAhiIIeGzWAbqacqDj8N8sE%3D&reserved=0



 
 

Category 2: For official use only / disclosure permissible by law.

From: Jose Villalaz <j_villalaz@hotmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 30, 2025 1:27 PM
To: Angela Ely <AEly@everettwa.gov>
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Council comments

 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or
open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

 
Hi,
 
Earlier in the week I emailed the city council. It was regarding some concerns about
safety and security and Andy's place residents. 
 
I wanted that email to be included in for the record. 
 
During my lunch hour, I watched the council meeting and noticed my email wasn't
included in the public written message. 
 
Jose Villalaz (District 2)
3314 Lombard Avenue 
Everett, Washington 98201
 
Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone
Get Outlook for Android

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Faka.ms%2FAAb9ysg&data=05%7C02%7CAEly%40everettwa.gov%7C0cb6a7a63d3844fd32fb08dd8826b1f9%7C7ac422a9fc2d41b89bff064aaf2eb0c4%7C1%7C0%7C638816421966882688%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=4yHEN6EqjNWCKNVWbau0nI6oN9UuIkt8bGQIw%2FKBSQY%3D&reserved=0


 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
Whereas, the City of Everett celebrates the freedom, joy, and well-being that bicycling offers,  
 
And; throughout the month of May, residents and visitors alike can participate in a variety of local 
biking events or simply head outside to enjoy a solo ride, 
 
 And; bicycling promotes health, quality of life, and economic vitality by reducing pollution and 
congestion, supporting local businesses, and drawing tourism to Everett; 
 
And; local organizations, businesses, and civic groups, together with the League of American 
Bicyclists, will join in promoting cycling as a safe, sustainable, and year-round form of transportation 
and recreation;  
 
And; these efforts will enhance public awareness of bike safety and education, contributing to safer 
streets and healthier communities; 
 
Now, therefore, I, Cassie Franklin, Mayor of the City of Everett, do hereby proclaim May 2025 as 
 

“Bike Month” 
 
 in Everett, and encourage all residents to get involved, ride safely, and celebrate the many benefits 
of biking. 
 
Signed this 7th day of May, 2025 
 
  

 
Mayor Cassie Franklin 
City of Everett, WA 
 


































	050725 Council Agenda
	2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay_Award_CS_04.24.2025
	2025 Pavement Maintenance Overlay_Award_SD_04.24.2025
	Always Active LLC-Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding-Final Acceptance-TH-CS
	Always Active LLC-Citywide Bicycle Wayfinding-Final Acceptance-TH-SD
	McClure and Sons-Evergreen Pump Sta-Final Accept-TH-CS
	McClure and Sons-Evergreen Pump Sta-Final Accept-TH-SD
	NWIRC 2025-2027_CS
	NWIRC 2025-2027_uploaded 20250421_SD
	Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park Construction - Funding Ordinance_CS
	Later Phase Eclipse Mill Park Construction - Funding Ordinance _SD
	WPCF FEN Meter Replacement-Ordinance-JM-CS
	WPCF FEN Meter Replacement-Ordinance-JM-SD
	Section 5. The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordin...

	CB 2504-27 EdgewaterBridge_Ord Amendment_CS
	CB 2504-27 EdgewaterBridge_Ord Amendment_SD
	Section 6.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordi...

	CB 2504-28 Apprenticeship_CS
	CB 2504-28 Apprenticeship Ordinance
	Section 3.  The City Council hereby declares that should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance be declared invalid for any reason, it is the intent of the City Council that it would have passed all portions of this ordin...


	5.7.25 Written Comment
	Bike Month 2025
	5.7.25 In Person
	Meeting Handouts PC



